1988

# Michael Jon Reynolds v. Jennifer Franks Reynolds : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **JURISDICTION**

The Court of appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal and cross appeal by virtue of § 78-2a-3(2)(h) (1988) and Rule 4(a) and 4(d), R. Utah Ct. App. (1988). The abortion issues in this divorce action were certified for appeal under Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and the case was also bifurcated pursuant to Rule 42(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. R. 139-141.

### **NATURE OF PROCEEDING**

The issues here appealed arose within a divorce action which is still pending before the Third District Court, Salt Lake County, before the Honorable David S. Young. The only issues appealed at this time are those dealing with abortion, specifically, whether appellant, as a father and husband, should have been afforded the opportunity of a full evidentiary hearing to weigh and balance his rights and interests against the interests of respondent in having an abortion. R. 139-141.

### **RELATED OR PRIOR APPEAL**

When the trial court dissolved its restraining order March 30, 1988, but while the child was still living, Mr. Reynolds filed an Application for Interlocutory Appeal, #880180-CA. Upon hearing the next day that the baby had been aborted, the Court dismissed the interlocutory appeal.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL**

### **ISSUE I**

Did the trial court err in ruling as a matter of law that Mr. Reynolds had no right to enjoin his wife from aborting their unborn child?

### **ISSUE II**

Should the trial court have balanced the rights and interests of Mr. and Mrs. Reynolds and determined whether Mr. Reynolds' right to procreate and associate with his child should, under the circumstances, prevail over Mrs. Reynolds' right to an abortion?

### **ISSUE III**

Did the trial court err in holding that this controversy involves "state action", and therefore was controlled by Planned Parenthood of Missouri v. Danforth, 428 U.S. 52 (1975)?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case**

This case stems from a divorce court dispute over the disposition of the parties' unborn child. Only the abortion related issues are involved in this appeal.

### **Course of Proceedings**

Mr. Reynolds filed for divorce March 22, 1988 and was awarded a Temporary Restraining Order, which was served upon

Mrs. Reynolds, preventing her temporarily from aborting their unborn child.

After hearing the matter (without taking evidence) on March 30, 1988, the trial court refused to grant a Preliminary Injunction and lifted the Temporary Restraining Order. An interlocutory appeal was taken to this Court, which appeal was dismissed when Mrs. Reynolds had her abortion before being served with the Restraining Order from this Court.

The honorable David S. Young then certified this issue for appeal and also bifurcated the case.

#### **Disposition at Trial Court**

No trial was had in the matter, and the denial of an injunction was accomplished based solely upon affidavits and proffers. The judge ruled as a matter of law that Mr. Reynolds as a father had no right to present a case as to why his wife should be enjoined from aborting their child.

#### **Summary of Relevant Facts**

The parties were married for less than two years, and at the time of commencement of this action defendant was pregnant with their second child, which she wished to abort. R. 2-7 and 14-22. It is undisputed that plaintiff was the natural father of the unborn child, and for purposes of appeal plaintiff concedes the pregnancy was nearing the end of the first trimester. Id. No allegation has been made that defendant is in anything but good health, and no claim has been made that

order. R. 122-124. The Honorable Judge Garff, the first available judge, signed the temporary order at about 12:55 p.m. The order was served on the clinic about 1:25 p.m. and defendant herself was not served until later that evening. According to the clinic, the abortion had been performed about 1:00. This Court denied the petition for interlocutory appeal the next day. R. 126-127.

The trial court certified the abortion issue for immediate appeal and bifurcated the Case on May 20, 1988. R. 139-141.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Fathers have fundamental liberty rights and interests in their own children, which is of approximately equal value with mothers' right to abortion. No controlling jurisdiction has decided this issue. Due process rights may be accorded to a father only by allowing a full hearing to weigh the respective rights and interest of the parents.

This appeal is not barred by mootness since it is a controversy which is likely to repeat itself, yet evades review.

No state action is involved, so the Roe v. Wade decisions do not apply.

## ARGUMENT

I. Danforth does not preclude a court from balancing a father's rights in an unborn child with the mother's right to an abortion.

This is a case of first impression in Utah. However, the mother has consistently but incorrectly argued that the father's claim is entirely overcome by the Supreme Court's decision in Planned Parenthood of Missouri v. Danforth, 428 U.S. 52 (1975). An overbroad reading of that case is the root of the lower court's error. Danforth held that a "State may not constitutionally require the consent of the spouse, as is specified under [the Missouri statute examined], as a condition for abortion during the first 12 weeks of pregnancy." Id. at 69. But the Missouri statute troubling the Court purported to create rights much different from those asserted by the father here.

In Danforth the legislature had given one spouse an absolute veto, for any or no reason, to the absolute exclusion of the other. A husband (who might not even be the father, Id. at 69) had the unilateral power to forbid that an abortion be performed on his wife, and his mandate could not be controverted or reviewed by any higher authority. Id. at 71. While the father here seeks a case by case balancing of rights and interests, Missouri had done its own arbitrary balancing, striking the balance permanently and absolutely in favor of the father. The Court struck down a per se rule, not a balancing test.

Since the mother here seeks an unbridled right to decide whether the fetus is born or terminated, without regard for the father, the Court could find her position to be more repugnant to the spirit of Danforth than the individualized balancing the father proposes.

The trial court mistakenly read Danforth to have already accomplished the balancing of rights and interests the father sought. It is an understandable error, since, out of context, we find the following quote Judge Young read at the hearing:

Inasmuch as it is the woman who physically bears the child and who is the more directly and immediately affected by the pregnancy, as between the two, the balance weighs in her favor.

Id. at 71.

The Supreme Court, however, was weighing the effect of leaving the statutory per se absolute veto intact against the effect of striking it down and allowing the woman a choice. As between these absolutes, the Court preferred the right of the mother.

The Court carefully illustrated that it was not considering the constitutionality of a more tailored approach allowing for a case by case balance. Referring to the spousal consent provision it struck down, the Court wrote:

This section does much more than insure that the husband participate in the decision whether his wife should have an abortion. The State, instead, has determined that the husband's interest in continuing the pregnancy of his wife always outweighs any interest on her part in terminating it irrespective of the condition of their marriage. The State, accordingly, has granted him the right to prevent unilaterally, and for whatever reason, the effectuation of his wife's and her physician's decision to terminate her pregnancy. This state determination . . . has interposed an absolute

obstacle to a woman's decision that Roe held to be constitutionally protected from such interference.

Id. at 70-71 [emphasis supplied].

In the wake of Danforth, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals was careful to limit its ruling to the facts when faced with a similarly broad Kentucky statute. Wolfe v. Schroering, 541 F.2d 523 (1978). After striking down the absolute veto with which the legislature had endowed the husband, the court vowed it would refrain from deciding whether a more narrowly drafted statute would pass constitutional muster. 541 F.2d at 526.

Danforth and its progeny, despite claims to the contrary, do not really deal with the rights of men as fathers. They merely consider the rights of husbands. Thus, the statute Danforth struck down was overbroad. Not only did it give a veto power rather than an interest or voice for balancing, the power was given to husbands, not just fathers. The fathers issue remains to be decided by any court of controlling jurisdiction over this case.

## **II. Fathers have constitutional rights to their children.**

Along with society, in the twentieth century courts recognized that fathers have not only duties, but also important constitutional rights in their children. Failure to give appropriate weight to a father's interests is a violation of these rights.

The United States Supreme Court's decisions on point follow two important lines of cases: those supporting the right



to procreate and those limiting the termination of parental rights. "Marriage and procreation are fundamental to the very existence and survival of the race." Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535 (1942). The Court has repeatedly emphasized that [w]ithout doubt [the liberty guaranteed under the fourteenth amendment] denotes the right of the individual to . . . establish a home and bring up children. . . ." Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390, 399 (1923).

A. Fathers have a right to procreate.

"Procreation" means "the entire process of bringing a new individual into the world." Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary (24th ed. 1965). Similarly, the recent case of In re Baby M, 537 A.2d 1227 (N.J. 1988), stated, "[t]he right to procreate very simply is the right to have natural children. . . . It is no more than that." *Id.* at 1253.

Obviously, the right to procreate--to have a natural child--extends to both parents. But a mother's procreation right is logically distinguishable from the limited right granted by Roe v. Wade to destroy the creation. 410 U.S. 113 (1973). Because the mother also has the right to procreate, the father may not force her to have an abortion. Harris v. State, 356 So.2d 623 (Ala. 1978). And despite his desire and offer to pay for an abortion, he may not escape his paternal duties when the mother refuses to abort. *Id.* at 624.

Similarly, the father claims no right to force a woman to become a mother against her wishes in order to satisfy his

desire to be a father. He has no right to force a woman to have intercourse with him, and in this case he did not. When the action began, the parties were already mother and father of an unborn child. The action was precipitated by the mother's desire to change father's status from father to man, extinguishing the father's constitutional rights, by terminating the child.

B. Fathers have rights to raise and enjoy their offspring.

Separate and in addition to the right to father, is the right to be a father. Natural parents have constitutional rights to raise, associate with, and enjoy their children that a state cannot sever absent clear and convincing evidence of parental unfitness. Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745 (1982). In short, these family rights are "fundamental". Santosky held that a "preponderance of the evidence" standard of proof for termination of parental rights failed to sufficiently recognize "the fundamental liberty interest of natural parents in the care, custody, and management of their child." 455 U.S. at 753. Only "clear and convincing evidence" that parental rights are not in the best interest of the child can overcome such fundamental rights. In re Brand, 479 So.2d 66 (Ala.Civ.App. 1985).

Santosky observed that [e]ven when blood relationships are strained, parents retain a vital interest in preventing the irretrievable destruction of their family life." 455 U.S. at 753.

In 1972 Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645 (1972), recognized paternal rights of illegitimate fathers. The decision was such a break with past civil and common law, one writer accused the Court of "having just discovered that dads are people, too." Marriage, Kinship, and Sexual Privacy, Mich. L. Rev. 81:463, 499. It appears some sectors of society wish to keep that discovery a secret. Stanley summed up the rights of fathers as follows:

The private interest here, that of a man in the children he has sired and raised, undeniably warrants deference and, absent a powerful countervailing interest, protection. It is plain that the interest of a parent in the companionship, care, custody, and management of his or her children 'comes to this Court with a momentum for respect lacking when appeal is made to liberties which derive merely from shifting economic arrangements.'

405 U.S. at 651.

The Stanley Court did not stop there, but went on to observe:

The Court has frequently emphasized the importance of the family. The rights to conceive and to raise one's children have been deemed 'essential,' Meyer v. Nebraska, 'basic civil rights of man,' Skinner v. Oklahoma, and [rights far more precious . . . than property rights,' May v. Anderson. 'It is cardinal with us that the custody, care and nurture of the child reside first in the parents . . . . The integrity of the family unit has found protection in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, and the Ninth Amendment.

[405 U.S. at 651, Citations Omitted].

Santosky confirms that the father's fundamental rights to care, custody and management of his child originate in the liberty clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 455 U.S. at 745. So the foundation of the father's rights as father is the same one

on which Roe v. Wade found a right of privacy protecting abortion. 410 U.S. 153. A father's right in his child has been declared "cognizable and substantial" under the United States Constitution. Quillon v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246, 248 (1978).

Obviously such rights may not be enjoyed in an aborted child. His fundamental rights may only be fully exercised if he is able to protect the child until live birth. In fact one of the basic interests of the father is that of providing "loving protection" for the child. Rivera v. Minnich, 107 S.Ct. 3001, 3004 (1987). Hence the father here sought to have his rights balanced against those granted to the mother by the same Court.

C. Utah carefully protects parental rights.

From the first compilation of statutes after statehood, Utah has given the father and mother substantial rights in their children. See R.S.Utah 1898 § 4. Those rights have been consistently protected since. Utah's Constitution declares, "Frequent recurrence to fundamental principles is essential to the security of individual rights and the perpetuity of free government." Art. I § 27. Fundamental rights of parents cannot be stressed too often or guarded too closely.

Utah's legislature has provided that any physician performing an abortion shall first follow various procedures. § 76-7-301 et seq., UCA 1953. One is that he must "Notify, if possible, . . . the husband of the woman, if she is married." § 76-7-304, UCA 1953 (emphasis supplied). For what possible purpose did the legislature require notification of the husband,

unless it is so he may take a role in the decision, resorting to the courts if necessary, as the father did here.

Spousal notification statutes have been upheld. Doe v. Deschamps, 461 F.Supp. 682 (Mont. 1976); Scheinberg v. Smith, 659 F.2d 476 (1981).

Like the Fourteenth Amendment, Utah's Constitution provides, "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law." Art. I § 7.

The words "life, liberty and property" are taken in their broadest sense as indicative of the three great subdivisions of all civil rights. McGrew v. Industrial Comm., 96 U. 203, 85 P.2d 608. "Property" embraces all valuable interests a person may possess outside of himself, that is to say, outside of his life and liberty. It is not confined to mere tangible property, but to every species of vested right. *Id.* It must include, then, the rights to procreate, rear and enjoy children. As indicated above, the interest vests upon actual conception of an individual.

This provision has been used to protect the rights of Utah parents, and should protect the father here, independent of his federal protections. In 1980 the legislature passed the Children's Rights Act, ch. 40, 1980 Utah Laws 288, amending § 78-3a-48(1), UCA 1953. The requirement in the former statute that the court find a parent "unfit or incompetent by reason of conduct or condition seriously detrimental to the child" was removed, and replaced with a provision permitting involuntary termination upon a finding that such termination will be in "the

child's best interest." That change was struck down as violative of Art. 1 § 7. In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1374 (Utah 1982).

J.P. observed that until that amendment Utah's statutory and common law have invariably upheld the rights of natural parents except in "extreme circumstances." 648 P.2d at 1366. The Code, for example, allows adoption without consent of natural parents only if the parent "has been judicially deprived of the custody of the child on account of cruelty, neglect, or desertion," or has abandoned the child. §§ 78-30-4, 78-30-5, UCA 1953. See also current § 78-3a-48, UCA 1953.

On the other hand the state has an independent interest in the welfare of its children. State in re Jennings, 20 Utah 2d 50, 52, 432 P.2d 879, 880 (1967). But the "best interests" or "welfare" of the infant may only be considered after the parent's rights are terminated for unfitness, etc. In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1369 (Utah 1982).

By the 1980 enactment, Justice Oaks observed the legislature had failed to give appropriate weight to the right of a fit, competent parent to a parent-child relationship. 648 P.2d at 1368. Rearing children is, after all, a "fundamental right." In re Castillo, 632 P.2d 855, 856 (Utah 1981); State in re Walter B., 577 P.2d 119, 124 (Utah 1978)(plurality opinion). Castillo declared that "the ideals of individual liberty which protect the sanctity of one's home and family" are "essential in a free society. . . ." 632 P.2d at 856.

Under both the Federal (Amendment. IX) and State (Art. I § 25 Constitutions, personal liberties are not limited to those

granted, but are a retention of rights in the people. See, In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1373, 1369 (Utah 1982), which went on to state:

The rights inherent in family relationships-- husband-wife, parent-child, and sibling--are the most obvious examples of rights retained by the people. They are 'natural', 'intrinsic,' or 'prior' in the sense that our Constitutions presuppose them, as they presuppose the right to own and dispose of property. . . . Similarly, the Court has characterized the right to procreate as among the 'basic civil rights of man.' Skinner v. Oklahoma, 316 U.S. 535, 541 . . . . Blackstone deemed 'the most universal relation in nature . . . [to be] that between parent and child.' 1 W. Blackstone, Commentaries \* 446.

648 P.2d at 1364. Can it be doubted, then, that a father's rights are of at least as great import as the abortion rights of the mother?

A parent's inherent authority and right to rear his own children are recognized as fundamental axioms of Anglo-American culture. To protect the individual in his "constitutionally guaranteed right to form and preserve the family is one of the basic principals for which organized government is established." In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1373 (Utah 1982).

D. The father has shown a genuine interest.

In affidavits filed with the lower court, the father has made clear that he not only wished that the child be allowed life. Rather, he offered to take and care for the child, meet all his or her needs and completely excuse the mother from her parental obligations. He acted quickly, near the end of the first trimester. Importantly, the father was married to the mother at all relevant times. "Parental rights are at their apex

for parents who are married." In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1374 (Utah 1982).

In cases involving unwed fathers biology alone does not give rise to constitutional rights in one's children. The United States Supreme Court has stated in recent cases that illegitimate fathers have a protected relationship with their children only if they exercise their rights by assuming genuine responsibility for their children. See, Caban v. Mohammed, 441 U.S. 380 (1979); Quillon v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246 (1978). Although no such requirements are imposed upon natural fathers who are married to the mother, like the parties here, this father has gone to great lengths to protect his interests, but for naught.

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