1988

Michael Jon Reynolds v. Jennifer Franks Reynolds : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I

In *Planned Parenthood of Missouri v. Danforth*, the United States Supreme Court held that no third party, not even a woman's husband, has the right to veto the decision, reached by a woman and her physician, to terminate her first trimester pregnancy. Furthermore, the Court noted that, inasmuch as it is the woman who physically bears a child, the right to privacy that protects her decision to terminate a first trimester pregnancy outweighs the interests that a third party may have in continuation of her pregnancy. In accord with that precedent, every appellate court faced with the issue has held that a husband or father cannot enjoin a woman from terminating her pregnancy in the first trimester. Following suit, the trial court in the instant case correctly refused to issue a preliminary injunction enjoining the defendant from terminating her pregnancy.

POINT II

The Fourteenth Amendment protects a person's fundamental rights from infringement by the state; one person's infringement on another's fundamental rights--with no state involvement--is not a violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. Thus, in the instant case, the plaintiff's argument that his constitutional rights were violated fails because the defendant's decision to terminate her pregnancy was a purely private decision and no state intervention was necessary to carry out her decision.

Moreover: (1) plaintiff's right to procreate remains intact. However, it is up to the plaintiff, not the trial court, to find a woman willing to bear plaintiff's child; (2) the right to rear children is not implicated because an embryo in the first trimester of gestation is not a "child"; and (3) denying plaintiff the ability to force defendant to bear his child does not unfairly discriminate against him on the basis of gender; it merely places the parties on equal footing as neither can force the other to bear a child.

POINT III

It has been long established that the actions of a state court, applying statutory or common law, is state action restricted by the Fourteenth Amendment, even if the law is applied in a civil suit between private parties. Thus, the trial court in the instant case correctly held that it was bound by the Fourteenth Amendment and could not intercede on plaintiff's behalf to enjoin the defendant from terminating her pregnancy.

POINT IV

No third party can veto a woman's decision to terminate her pregnancy in the first trimester. That constitutional mandate cannot be circumvented by a state through passage of laws that dictate when life begins. Thus, Utah law protecting children, parents and the family does not, and could not constitutionally, include in the definition of "child" an embryo in the first trimester of gestation in order to give the plaintiff the right to veto the defendant's decision to terminate her pregnancy.

Moreover, Utah had a law requiring the consent of a woman's husband and the embryo's father before a woman could terminate her pregnancy. A provision of the same law gave the father and the husband the right to resort to the courts to enjoin the abortion if they so desired. The law was found to be unconstitutional by the United States District Court for the District of Utah. Utah law now provides only that a husband must receive notice of his wife's intent to terminate her pregnancy so that he may play a role, at a private level, in his wife's decision. Nothing in Utah law now requires that a husband or father consent to an abortion or gives him the right to enlist court assistance if he disagrees with his wife's decision. Thus, the trial court's decision in the instant case was consistent with Utah law.

POINT V

The decision to become a parent belongs to each *individual*, married or single. Thus, despite the fact that procreation may be a primary purpose of marriage, no man may force his wife to bear his child by vetoing her decision to terminate her pregnancy during the first trimester.

POINT VI

The balancing act advocated by the plaintiff is disproportionately perilous for a woman in that it may result in her enduring an unwanted pregnancy and bearing the burden of deciding whether to place the child she has born for adoption or rearing the child with inadequate resources.

POINT VII

This court is not at liberty to reverse the Supreme Court's decisions in *Roe v. Wade* and its progeny. Unless the Supreme Court overturns those decisions, this court is bound by their precedent to uphold the trial court's ruling.

POINT VIII

Defendant is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees under Utah Code Ann. §30-3-3 and Rule 33 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure because plaintiff's appeal is frivolous and because defendant's need and the plaintiff's ability to pay justify an award of fees in this case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN
PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF MISSOURI v. DANFORTH PRECLUDES A FATHER
FROM UNILATERALLY VETOING A WOMAN'S DECISION TO TERMINATE HER
PREGNANCY IN THE FIRST TRIMESTER.

A. The Supreme Court's decision in *Danforth* governs the instant action.

The plaintiff acknowledges that the decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Planned Parenthood of Missouri v. Danforth*, 428 U.S. 52 (1975) prohibits a husband from vetoing the decision of a woman to terminate her pregnancy. Plaintiff seeks to limit the holding of *Danforth* to instances where a husband is granted an absolute right to veto a woman's decision, arguing that *Danforth* does not preclude a court from balancing the rights and interests of a father in determining whether it is appropriate that the father be allowed to insist that a woman bear his child.

Contrary to plaintiff's argument, *Danforth* did not limit its application to cases in which a husband was given an absolute veto over a woman's choice to terminate her first trimester of pregnancy. In *Danforth*, the court held that the authority to prevent an abortion cannot be granted to "any particular person, even the spouse" during the first trimester of a woman's pregnancy. *Planned Parenthood of Missouri v. Danforth*, 428 U.S. at 69 [emphasis added].

Moreover, the plaintiff's distinction between a veto right that results from balancing a father's interests and one that is absolute is a distinction without a difference. In either case, the deprivation of a woman's right to choose to terminate her pregnancy is equally complete and, as a result, in both cases the woman must remain pregnant against her wishes and succumb to a third party's desire that she bear the child. Thus, in this setting a veto is a veto, whatever its origin.⁴

The Court in *Danforth* was cognizant of the difficulty involved in weighing the interest of a woman's spouse when he disagrees with the decision to terminate a pregnancy. The Court held that, in the face of such conflict:

Inasmuch as it is the woman who physically bears the child and who is more directly and immediately affected

⁴ Moreover, plaintiff's plea for temporary veto power ignores the reality that his "temporary veto" may be permanent. As the Supreme Court acknowledged in *Roe v. Wade*, the health risks involved with an abortion procedure increase with the passage of time. As a practical matter, an attempt to fit an evidentiary hearing into a trial court's docket may cause sufficient delay in the ability to terminate a pregnancy to reverse a woman's decision to obtain an abortion, based upon increasing risks to her health, or require her to face the increased risks in order to carry out her desire to terminate her pregnancy.

by the pregnancy, as between the two, the balance weighs in her favor.

428 U.S. at 71.

Thus, the Court in *Danforth* has acknowledged that, until a man can arrange to bear his own child, nature has placed the burden of gestation and child birth upon the woman. As a consequence of that burden, when balancing the interest of a father in an existing first trimester pregnancy, the balance is invariably weighted in favor of the woman's right to decide whether to continue the pregnancy.

B. Courts have unanimously held that a woman's right to determine whether to continue a first trimester pregnancy outweighs a father's interest.

A reading of plaintiff's brief gives the impression that plaintiff's appeal ventures into uncharted territory, which falls into an area that the courts have carefully avoided by limiting the application of *Danforth*. That is simply not the case.

Plaintiff cites *Wolfe v. Schroering*, 541 F.2d 523 (6th Cir. 1978) for the proposition that courts have limited *Danforth* and refused to determine whether a statute narrowly drafted to allow a husband something less than an absolute veto on a woman's decision to terminate her pregnancy would pass constitutional muster. See, Appellant's Brief at p. 3. In fact, the Circuit Court of Appeals in *Wolfe* held that a state cannot authorize a spouse, parent or guardian to veto a woman's decision to abort a pregnancy in the *second trimester of pregnancy* "for no reason or an impermissible reason, to wit, other than protect[ing] maternal health," such as protecting unrecognized interest in fetal life. 541 F.2d at 523.

Thus, *Wolfe* actually extends *Danforth* and *Roe v. Wade* to their logical conclusion by determining that a woman's choice to abortion in the second trimester cannot be vetoed by a spouse absent legitimate concern for maternal health. The only issue reserved in *Wolfe* was whether "a more narrowly drafted requirement of spousal consent, permitting the husband/father to 'veto' a post-viability abortion" could survive constitutional challenge. 541 F.2d at 526 [emphasis added]. The issue of a father's interest in a viable fetus is not addressed in *Danforth* or its progeny and, in fact, a holding that a father's interest in a viable fetus outweighs the mother's right to terminate her pregnancy may well be consistent with the Supreme Court's decision in *Roe* and *Danforth*.⁵ Thus, *Wolfe* does not limit application of *Danforth*; it simply refuses to extend the *Danforth* holding to third-trimester pregnancies.

Nothing in *Wolfe* or any other decision indicates that the holding of *Danforth* should be limited to allow a father to veto a woman's choice to terminate her pregnancy.

⁵ In Point III of his Appellate Brief, Plaintiff argues that the right to abortion is not absolute and therefore should be balanced with the father's rights. See, Brief of Appellant at pp. 15-16. Defendant agrees that the right to determine whether to terminate her pregnancy is not absolute but must be considered against important state interests in regulation. *Roe v. Wade*, 410 U.S. at 154. However, until the end of the first trimester, when the state interest in regulation becomes compelling, the woman, in consultation with her physician, is free to determine whether to terminate her pregnancy. Moreover, during that time period, the right to prevent the abortion cannot be granted to any particular person. *Danforth*, 428 U.S. at 69. Thus, while defendant's right to terminate her pregnancy is not absolute, the right is broad enough to withstand the plaintiff's efforts to use the state court to prevent her from having an abortion.

The Supreme Court has consistently reaffirmed its holding that the state may not override the choice of an adult woman, in consultation with her doctor, to terminate her first trimester pregnancy. See e.g. *Thornburgh v. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists*, 90 L.Ed 779 (1986); *City of Akron v. Akron Center for Reproductive Health*, 462 U.S. 416 (1983). In reaffirming this position, the Supreme Court has emphasized that "[f]ew decisions are more personal and intimate, more properly private, or more basic to individual dignity and autonomy, than a woman's decision . . . whether to end her pregnancy. A woman's right to make that choice freely is fundamental." *Thornburgh*, 90 L.Ed at 801.

Consistent with the principal, even before *Danforth*, courts held that a father could not intervene to prevent a woman from terminating her pregnancy. See, *Jones v. Smith*, 278 So.2d 339 (Fla. Ct.App. 1973); cert. denied, 415 U.S. 958 (1974); *Doe v. Rampton*, 366 F.Supp. 189, 193 (D.Utah 1973) (striking down, as unconstitutional, a Utah statute requiring that a father and/or husband consent to an abortion). In the wake of *Danforth*, several courts have rejected the arguments raised by plaintiff and held that a husband and/or father cannot interfere with a woman's decision to terminate her first trimester pregnancy. *Conn v. Conn*, 526 N.E.2d 958 (Ind. 1988) (specifically rejecting the "balancing of interests" approach advocated by plaintiff) application for stay denied, No. A-88-55 U.S. (July 22, 1988); cert denied 109 S.Ct. 391 (1988); *Coleman v. Coleman*, 57 Md.App. 755, 472 A.2d 1115 (1984); *Doe v. Doe*, 365 Mass. 556, 314 N.E.2d 128

(1974); *John Doe v. Jane Smith*, 527 N.E.2d 177 (Ind. 1988), application for stay denied, 108 S.Ct. 2136 (1988); *Jane Doe v. John Smith*, No. 84A01-8804-CV-00112, Slip. Op. (Ind.Ct.App. Oct. 24, 1988).

In short, the decisions of the United States Supreme Court and their progeny have made it "crystalline" that

a woman in her first trimester of pregnancy, in consultation with her physician, may elect to terminate the pregnancy, and neither the state nor the woman's spouse, nor the father of the child has any right to intervene so as to prevent her decision from becoming fact.

Coleman, 471 A.2d at 1119.

That precedent should, by all rights, conclude any argument on the merits of plaintiff's claim that he was wrongfully denied an opportunity to have his interests "balanced" so that he could obtain a court order forbidding the defendant from terminating her pregnancy. It has been conclusively determined that plaintiff has no such right.

POINT II.

DENYING PLAINTIFF THE RIGHT TO FORCE DEFENDANT TO BEAR HIS CHILD DOES NOT VIOLATE PLAINTIFF'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

A. Completely private acts, such as a woman's decision to terminate her pregnancy, do not violate the Fourteenth Amendment.

Plaintiff argues that the defendant's decision to terminate her pregnancy violated his constitutional right to procreate, to rear and enjoy his offspring and discriminates against him on the basis of gender. In fact, plaintiff's constitutional rights are in no way implicated. The Constitution certainly protects the rights cited by the plaintiff; however, those rights are

constitutionally protected against *government* action *not* against wholly private actions. See, *Civil Rights Cases*, 109 U.S. 3, 9-12 (1883) ("Individual invasion of individual rights is not the subject matter of the [Fourteenth] Amendment."); see also *Rendell-Baker v. Kahn*, 457 U.S. 830, 837 (1982). Every case cited by the plaintiff in support of his constitutional claims involves state action affirmatively interfering with the rights of an individual. In this case, defendant's choice involves *no* state action.

Justice Stevens recently pointed out the flaw in plaintiff's argument when denying an application for injunction in a legally and factually similar case, *John Doe v. Jane Smith*, 108 S.Ct 2136 (1988). Justice Stevens wrote:

I have serious doubts concerning the availability of a federal remedy for this claim in view of the fact that Jane Smith's decision to obtain an abortion can be carried out without any action on the part of the State of Indiana or any other state governmental subdivision.

Id. at 2137.

The constitutional rights asserted by plaintiff act only as "a shield for the private citizen against government action, not a sword of government assistance to enable him to overturn the private decisions of his fellow citizens." *Doe v. Doe*, 365 Mass. 556, 314 N.E.2d 128, 132 (1974) (the court in *Doe*, rejected a request by a man to enjoin a woman's abortion, noting that there was no "basis for the husband's assertion that the Constitution enables him to summon the Commonwealth to help him in a dispute with his wife." *Id.*). Plaintiff improperly seeks to twist the rights that the Constitution protects against government intrusion

into swords that call forth judicial action to subordinate women to their husband's will.

B. Plaintiff's right to procreate remains intact.

Plaintiff's argument that his right to procreate has been violated by defendant's decision to terminate her pregnancy is completely frivolous. Plaintiff clearly has a right to have natural children. However, it is up to the plaintiff, not the courts, to find someone willing to bear plaintiff's child.

The implications of plaintiff's interpretation of the right to procreate are staggering. Plaintiff claims that, to protect his right to procreate, courts may compel a woman to bear his child. If that is correct, may a court also order a party to refrain from the use of contraception, or to use contraception, to accommodate another parties desire to have, or refrain from having, children? As noted by the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts:

[W]e would not order either a husband or a wife to do what is necessary to conceive a child or prevent conception, any more than we would order either party to do what is necessary to make the other happy. We think the same considerations prevent us from forbidding the wife to do what is necessary to bring about or prevent birth . . . Some things must be left to private agreement

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